#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed May 04 2021 08:15 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellant,

v.

TARIQ MANSON,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 82038

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

# **Appeal From Amended Decision and Order Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Clark County District Attorney's Office Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 117.015(1)(b) provides that the State or the defendant may file an appeal "to the appellate court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to the rules fixed by the Supreme Court pursuant to Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution from an order of the district court granting a motion to dismiss, a motion for acquittal or a motion in arrest of judgment, or granting or refusing a new trial."

On October 6, 2020, the district court entered and filed its Amended Decision and Order finding Tariq Manson ("Manson") incompetent without the possibility of restoration and dismissing his charges without prejudice. The State filed its Notice of Appeal on October 28, 2020.

/	/	/
/	/	/

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal is appropriately retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(14) because it raises a principal issue of a question of first impression and statewide public importance.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the district court abused its discretion when it applied a heightened standard to determine competency that resulted in a finding that Manson was incompetent without the possibility of restoration and thereby dismissed his criminal case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 2, 2018, TARIQ MANSON (hereinafter "Manson") was charged by way of Criminal Complaint with one (1) count of Sexual Assault with a Minor. IAA1. On April 16, 2018, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint charging Manson with one (1) count of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category A Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366) and three (3) counts of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 (Category A Felony – NRS 201.230). IAA5-6.

On October 24, 2018, Manson's counsel filed a Request for Evaluation(s) for Competency and the district court filed an Order for Competency Evaluation(s). IAA10. On October 29, 2018, the district court filed a Commitment and Order and bound the case over to district court to determine Manson's competency. IAA13. On

or about December 14, 2018, Manson was released from custody and placed on Mid-Level Electronic Monitoring. IAA15. After considering the reports from Dr. C. Phillip Colosimo and Dr. Sunshine Collins, who found Manson incompetent, but not a danger to himself or society, the district court ordered Manson, pursuant to NRS 178.425, to receive out-patient treatment for purposes of competency restoration. IAA17.

In September 2019, Manson was sent to Stein Forensic Facility Outpatient Restoration Services (hereinafter "Stein") for purposes of competency restoration. IAA166. While undergoing such competency restoration at Stein, two (2) licensed psychiatrists, Dr. Mohammad Asim Khan and Dr. Patrick Bennet, as well as one (1) licensed psychologist, Dr. Shera D. Bradley, evaluated Manson. IAA26. All three (3) evaluators found that Manson was not competent to stand trial at that time. IAA26. However, Dr. Khan and Dr. Bennet found that there was a substantial probability of competency restoration and Dr. Bradley found that Manson would need further competency restoration and treatment. IAA30,38,43.

On September 27, 2019, the district court filed a Findings of Incompetency and Order Recommitting Defendant (Out Patient). IAA44-46. In such Order, the district court explained that it reviewed the reports completed by Dr. Khan, Dr. Bennet, and Dr. Bradley and found that pursuant to NRS 178.460(4)(b) Manson:

(1) is incompetent to stand trial at this time; (2) that there is substantial probability that [Manson] will attain competency to stand trial in the foreseeable future; and (3) the Court further finds that [Manson] may constitute a possible danger to the safety of himself and/or society if released from custody/monitoring at this time, and that the recommitment of [Manson] is required for a further determination of his ability to attain competence.

IAA44-46. Accordingly, Manson was ordered to participate in further outpatient treatment. IAA55.

While undergoing further competency out-patient treatment at Stein, Manson was once again evaluated. IAA50-68. Two (2) licensed psychiatrists, Dr. Eric Bossi and Dr. Daniel Sussman, as well as one (1) licensed psychologist, Dr. Sarah Damas, conducted such evaluations. IAA50-68. All three (3) evaluators found that Manson's competency had been restored. IAA50-68. Based on these findings, the district court, on April 3, 2020, filed an Order to Transport Manson back to the Clark County Detention Center for further proceedings. IAA70.

On September 26, 2019 and April 23, 2020, Dr. Sharon Jones-Forrester, a psychologist hired by Manson, conducted a Neuropsychological and Competency Evaluation of Manson. IAA72-88. Dr. Jones-Forrester documented her findings in a report dated May 29, 2020. IAA72.

On June 5, 2020, Manson's counsel advised the district court that he provided Dr. Jones-Forrester's report, explained that he would like to raise a challenge to Dr.

Bossi, Dr. Sussman, and Dr. Damas' findings, and requested that the matter be set for a Challenge Hearing. IAA90-92. The State advised the district court that the additional report would need to be reviewed by the Stein evaluators and should their conclusions not change, then a Challenge Hearing would need to be set. IAA90-92. On June 26, 2020, the district court set a date for the Challenge Hearing. IAA94.

On July 24, 2020, the district court held a Challenge Hearing where Dr. Eric Bossi, Dr. Sussman, and Dr. Jones-Forrester testified. IAA96-195. The hearing continued on August 28, 2020 where Dr. Damas also testified. IIAA197-261. At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court took the matter under advisement and explained it would issue a written order. IIAA261.

On September 11, 2020, the district court found that Manson was incompetent without the probability of restoration. IIAA263-65. On September 22, 2020, the district court filed a Findings of Incompetency and Order for Civil Commitment or Release. IIAA270-72. On October 6, 2020, the district court filed its Amended Decision and Order finding Manson not competent without the possibility of restoration pursuant to <u>Dusky v. U.S.</u>, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). IIAA278-283. Thereafter, Manson's charges were dismissed without prejudice. IIAA282. The matter was then set for status checks regarding Manson's treatment and discharge

plan. IIAA284-290,293-94. On October 28, 2020, the State filed a Notice of Appeal. IIAA291-92.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On April 16, 2018, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint charging Manson with one (1) count of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category A Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366) and three (3) counts of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 (Category A Felony – NRS 201.230). IAA5-6. While the underlying facts of this case are indeed important to keep in mind, the State has elected to include a synopsis of each of the relevant medical reports, including Manson's first set and second set of Stein evaluations, and Challenge Hearing testimony which are imperative to this Court's review of the district court's decision. IAA26-43,50-68,72-88,96-195;IIAA197-261.

#### A. MEDICAL REPORTS

## 1. First Set of Stein Competency Evaluation Reports

In January 2019, Manson began his outpatient competency restoration treatment at Stein and attended sessions once per week. IAA117. Manson participated in this first segment of treatment until September 2019. IAA117. At that point, three (3) Stein evaluators evaluated Manson and found that he was not competent to stand trial under the <u>Dusky</u> standard. IAA26.

#### a. Dr. Mohammad Asim Khan

On September 13, 2019, Dr. Mohammad Asim Khan, a licensed psychiatrist, evaluated Manson and reviewed his records to determine if he was competent to stand trial under the <u>Dusky</u> standard. IAA27. In his report dated September 16, 2019, Dr. Khan found that Manson was not competent because while Manson had the ability to understand the nature of the criminal charges against him, he did not have the ability to understand the nature as well as the purpose of the proceedings and did not have the ability to aid and assist counsel in his defense with a reasonable degree of rational understanding. IAA27.

Dr. Khan noted that Manson scored thirty (30) percent on his legal process pre-test and then began competency restoration treatment in which the Slater Method was used, which he explained was a "tool to educate lower intellectually functioning clients on topics related to competency restoration." IAA28. Interestingly, Dr. Khan noted that Manson "largely complied" with the attendance requirements. IAA28.

Applying the <u>Dusky</u> standard to Manson, Dr. Khan found that Manson demonstrated he understood the charges against him, but struggled with more complex concepts such as plea bargaining. IAA29-30. That being said, Dr. Khan believed that Manson could improve in the areas in which he struggled if he

continued his education, outpatient restoration treatment at Stein, and worked with his attorney. IAA30.

## b. Dr. Shera D. Bradley

Dr. Shera D. Bradley, a licensed psychologist, also evaluated Manson for competency during his first segment of competency restoration at Stein on July 15, 2019. IAA31. In her report dated September 17, 2019, after interviewing Mason and reviewing his records, Dr. Bradley found Manson was not competent to stand trial under the <u>Dusky</u> standard. IAA31. Specifically, she found that Manson failed to meet all three prongs of the standard as he did not: (1) demonstrate a rational factual understanding of the criminal charges, (2) demonstrate a rational and factual understanding of the nature of the and purpose of the court proceedings, and (3) demonstrate the ability to aid and assist counsel in his defense with a reasonable degree of rational understanding. IAA31.

Dr. Bradley reviewed Manson's records and found that he was diagnosed with Borderline Intellectual Functioning. IAA36,38. She further found that during his first month of competency restoration treatment at Stein, he appeared to have a "simplistic understanding" of his charge and basic legal concepts, but had not retained the information when he was later tested. IAA38. That being said, Dr. Bradley noted that Manson was able to retain some factual knowledge of his charges

and the courtroom personnel, but echoed Dr. Khan that Manson did not demonstrate a rational understanding of the plea-bargaining process or how to proceed with his case. IAA38. Ultimately, however, Dr. Bradley found that while Manson was not competent pursuant to <u>Dusky</u> at the time of the evaluation, he could become competent with more individual sessions directed toward his deficits. IAA38.

#### c. Dr. Patrick Bennet

On July 15, 2019, Dr. Patrick Bennet, a licensed psychiatrist, evaluated Manson, reviewed his records, and drafted a report on July 24, 2019. IAA39. Applying the <u>Dusky</u> standard to Manson, he found that Manson failed to meet all three (3) prongs, but also noted that he believed there was a "substantial probability" that Manson's competency could be restored "in the near future." IAA39.

Dr. Bennet noted that while Manson appeared to have attended his competency restoration classes on a weekly basis, there were occasional "noshows." IAA41. Ultimately, Dr. Bennet found that while Manson had made progress in understanding his charges and the legal process, he was unable to assist in defense strategy, which would prevent him from assisting his attorney. IAA43.

## 2. Second Set of Stein Competency Evaluation Reports

After Manson completed his first six (6) month segment of competency restoration at Stein, he continued his treatment for a second segment where he was evaluated by three (3) more evaluators. IIAA218.

### a. Dr. Eric Bossi

Dr. Eric Bossi, a licensed forensic psychiatrist, was one of the evaluators that evaluated Manson during his second segment of Stein competency restoration treatment. IAA63. After reviewing Manson's reports and interviewing him, Dr. Bossi drafted a competency evaluation report dated March 11, 2020. IAA58.

In Dr. Bossi's report, he noted that Manson had a IQ of sixty-seven (67) and was diagnosed with Borderline Intellectual Functioning. IAA59-60. However, he noted that while Manson had previously scored thirty (30) percent on his legal process pre-test that was administered on January 14, 2019, he had increased this score to eighty-three (83) percent in a subsequent test administered on October 7, 2019, IAA60.

As for specific competency areas, Dr. Bossi noted that Manson provided a rational account of his charges. IAA61. Specifically, Manson stated he was charged with "sexual assault with a minor under 14 and lewdness with a minor under 14 three times." IAA61. Moreover, he was able to articulate that the charges were Category A felonies, which carried possible sentences of one (1) year to life. IAA61.

Additionally, Manson was able to accurately articulate the potential pleas of guilty, not guilty, and no contest. IAA61-62. Indeed, Manson explained that a plea bargain is when "the DA gives you a bargain for reduced charges," which could result in a lower sentence. IAA61. He explained that he could accept the plea bargain by pleading guilty or no contest and was able to rationally describe some elements he felt would be favorable in a plea bargain. IAA61.

In describing the roles of courtroom personnel, Manson articulated that the State's role was to prove that he was guilty, while the public defender would assist him. IAA61. Further, he explained that the judge was neutral and the jury was the body that would determine if he was guilty or not guilty. IAA61. He also articulated possible risks he could face by proceeding to trial. IAA61. Further, Manson was able to provide examples of witnesses and evidence relevant to his case and stated he did not want to testify if his case were to proceed to trial. IAA62.

As for his relationship with his attorney, Manson described that he trusted his attorney and would follow his advice as well as knew the best way to help his attorney was to speak with him. IAA61. Moreover, Manson accurately described the appropriate courtroom behavior and that he could be held in "contempt of court" if he did not act appropriately. IAA62.

Dr. Bossi then provided the following list of findings that convinced him that Manson understood the nature of his criminal charges and the nature of the proceedings:

- 1. He is aware of his charges and their severities. He offered a rational account of the alleged offense.
- 2. He understands the range and nature of the possible penalties if convicted.
- 3. He has a realistic appraisal of the defenses available to him, including the potential pleas of guilty, not guilty, and no contest.
- 4. He was able to outline a plea bargain and would be able to rationally weigh the risks and benefits of a plea bargain, if available, with attorney assistance and advice.
- 5. He understands the roles and objectives of various courtroom participants including the judge, prosecutor, defense attorney, witnesses, and jury.
- 6. He understands the concept of evidence.
- 7. He understands the adversarial nature of the courtroom proceedings.

#### IAA62.

Additionally, Dr. Bossi found that the following findings supported that Manson was able to assist his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding:

- 1. Based on my interview, he demonstrated the capability to adequately relate to and communicate with others. He did not exhibit any gross or substantial deficits in his thought process or communication abilities.
- 2. He is able to plan a legal strategy with the assistance of his attorney, and he stated he would follow his attorney's advice and felt his attorney was trustworthy.
- 3. He has learned the content presented in competency groups as evidenced by improvement in his written test score from 30% to 83%.

This demonstrates that he has the capacity to comprehend and follow instruction as well as learn and retain material.

- 4. He has no self-defeating motivations.
- 5. He understands proper courtroom decorum.

IAA63. In sum, despite Manson's intellectual limitations, Dr. Bossi found that Manson met all three (3) prongs of the <u>Dusky</u> standard and was competent to stand trial. IAA63. In coming to this conclusion, Dr. Bossi recognized that while Manson could benefit from having discussions using simple terms and concepts to assist him, he had a basic but fundamental understanding of courtroom procedures and had "no gross or substantial deficits" in the abilities necessary to assist counsel. IAA63.

#### b. Dr. Sarah Damas

Dr. Sarah Damas, a licensed psychologist, also reviewed Manson's records and conducted a competency evaluation with him during his second segment at Stein on March 11, 2020. IAA51. Dr. Damas memorialized her findings in her competency evaluation report dated March 23, 2020. IAA51. Dr. Damas also employed the <a href="Dusky">Dusky</a> standard and found that Manson satisfied all three (3) prongs. IAA51.

Dr. Damas also recognized that Manson had been previously tested and had an IQ of sixty-seven (67), read at a fourth-grade level, and had been diagnosed with Borderline Intellectual Functioning. IAA54. She also recognized that at the beginning of the first segment of his competency restoration treatment at Stein, Manson scored thirty (30) percent, which had since increased to eighty-three (83)

percent. IAA55. Accordingly, Manson had demonstrated much improvement in his second segment of treatment where he was attending restoration sessions twice per week instead of just once. IAA57.

Dr. Damas then detailed her competency evaluation of Manson. IAA55. In addition to the information noted above under Dr. Bossi, Dr. Damas found that Manson demonstrated an understanding of the severity of his charges, but was further educated on the definition of "consensual." IAA55. Further, Manson accurately listed the potential pleas he could enter as well as the possible verdicts of guilty or not guilty if he were to proceed to trial. IAA55. However, Manson was further educated on the definition of not guilty by reason of insanity and guilty but mentally ill. IAA56.

As for his understanding of guilty plea agreements, Dr. Damas found that Manson provided rational responses when given hypothetical plea bargain scenarios, including that he would not agree to register as a sex offender and spend his life or many years in prison. IAA56. Moreover, while he was unsure if the State had any evidence against him, he questioned whether the note he wrote to the victim's mother could be used against him and he was further educated on evidence. IAA56.

Manson also identified his attorney and stated that he would tell his attorney if he did not understand something in court and if a witness was lying on the stand.

IAA56. Dr. Damas found that while Manson appeared to be hesitant to seek help from his attorney in understanding concepts, he was advised to write down questions he had for his attorney prior to meeting with him and was encouraged to take notes during his conversations with his attorney. IAA57. Dr. Damas suggested that another accommodation Manson's attorney could employ would be to use simple terms and check to ensure Manson understood what was being presented. IAA57.

#### c. Dr. Daniel Sussman

Dr. Daniel Sussman also evaluated Manson during his continued competency restoration treatment at Stein. IAA64. After Dr. Sussman reviewed Manson's reports and participated in his evaluation, he noted his findings in a report dated March 22, 2020. IAA64.

After reviewing Manson's background, Dr. Sussman noted that Manson had previously been diagnosed with Unspecified Intellectual Disability, Borderline Intellectual Functioning, and an Unspecified Substance-Related Disorder. IAA65-66. However, he independently found only that Manson had a diagnosis of Borderline Intellectual Functioning and an Unspecified Learning Disorders. IAA68. As for his competency restoration treatment at Stein, Dr. Sussman noted that Manson attended thirty-one (31) competency restoration groups and missed two (2) sessions. IAA67.

As for Dr. Sussman's competency findings he found that Manson had the ability to comprehend his charges, sentencing, and court proceedings. IAA67. In particular, he found:

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