IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Aug 05 2021 04:35 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

TARIQ MANSON

Respondent.

Docket No. 82038

Direct Appeal From Amended Decision and Order Dismissing Case
Eighth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Linda Bell, District Judge
District Court No. C-18-335833-1

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JoNell Thomas #4771
Special Public Defender
Melinda E. Simpkins #7911
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
Daniel R. Page #10706
Chief Deputy Special Public Defender
330 South 3rd Street
Las Vegas, NV 89155
(702) 455-6265
Attorneys for Tariq Manson

1.	Statement of the Issues
II.	Statement of the Facts
III.	Summary of the Argument
IV.	Argument
	A. The District Court did not Abuse its Discretion When it Found Tariq Manson Incompetent Without the Possibility of Restoration and Dismissed the State's Case
V.	Conclusion
	Certificate of Compliance
	Certificate of Mailing

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Case Authority

Allen v. State, 99 Nev. 485, 665 P.2d 238 (1983) 61
Calambro v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of Nevada, 114 Nev. 961, 964 P.2d 794 (1998)
Calvin v. State, 122 Nev. 1178, 147 P.3d 1097 (2006) 43, 44, 45
Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975)
Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960)
Fergusen v. State, 124 Nev. 795, 192 P.3d 712 (2008)
Gatlin v. State, 96 Nev. 303, 608 P.2d 1100 (1980)
Jones v. State, 107 Nev. 632, 817 P.2d 1179 (1991)
Mitchell v. State, 124 Nev. 807, 192 P.3d 721 (2008) 61
Morales v. State, 116 Nev. 19, 992 P.2d 252 (2000)

Odle v. Woodford, 238 F.3d 1084 (9 th Cir. 2001)
Ogden v. State, 96 Nev. 697, 615 P.2d 251 (1980) 43, 46, 49, 50
Pancake v. State, 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 153, 413 P.3d 835, 2018 WL 1129141 (February 26, 2018)
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966)
Pigeon v. State, 2017 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1076, 408 P.3d 160, 133 Nev. 1061 (December 1, 2017)
Steese v. State, 114 Nev. 479, 960 P.2d 321 (1998)
Todd v. State, 113 Nev. 18, 931 P.2d 721 (1997)
United States v. Hoskie, 950 F.2d 1388 (9 th Cir. 1991)
Statutory Authority
NRS 178.400 44, 53
NRS 178.405 44, 55
NRS 200.366
NRS 201.230 7

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding Tariq Manson incompetent without possibility of restoration. The finding was supported by substantial evidence including Tariq's neurocognitive evaluation. Neither did the District Court or Dr. Sharon Jones-Forrester use too high a standard in evaluating Tariq's abilities. Further, the Stein Doctors were not credible.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

According to the police reports filed in the Commitment and Order in the District Court on October 29, 2018¹, RA 17-19, Tariq Manson, an eighteen year old boy with lifelong intellectual disabilities, was having sexual intercourse with the alleged victim in this case, T.C. RA 17-19. According to both T.C. and Tariq, the two met on Facebook and became boyfriend and girlfriend. RA 17. Tariq was seventeen to eighteen years old at the time and T.C. was thirteen years of age. RA 17-19. The sex

¹While the State included the first page of the Commitment and Order in the Appellant's Appendix (1 AA 13), this was actually a twenty-two page document, some of which was not included in the Appellant's Appendix. Since the full document is relevant to this Appeal, Tariq filed the Respondent's Appendix.

was consensual in that Tariq did not force T.C. to have sex – she willingly had sex with Tariq. RA 17-19. Tariq was charged with one count of sexual assault of a child under fourteen as well as three counts of lewdness with a child under fourteen. 1 AA 5-6. Defense Counsel became concerned regarding Tariq's mental abilities and arranged for a psychological evaluation by Dr. Lisa Foerster on June 22, 2018. 1 AA 27. Dr. Foerster found Tariq to have borderline intellectual functioning, a learning disability and he functioned at a fourth grade level. 1 AA 28, 54.

In anticipation of a possible plea, Counsel then referred Tariq to Licensed Clinical Social Worker, John Pacult, for a psychosexual evaluation. 1 AA 32. Mr. Pacult recommended Tariq's referral to specialty court for a full competency evaluation. 1 AA 41. Mr. Pacult questioned whether Tariq could be rehabilitated sufficiently to establish his competency. 1 AA 43.

On or about October 24, 2018, Counsel requested that Tariq be referred for a competency evaluation. 1 AA 31. On November 8, 2018, Tariq was evaluated by Dr. Charles Colosimo, and found to be incompetent. 1 AA 17. On December 11, 2018, Dr. Sunshine Collins also found Tariq to be incompetent. 1 AA 17. The District Court ordered Tariq

to be sent, on an outpatient basis, for competency restoration treatment on December 31, 2018, to Stein Forensic Facility. 1 AA 17. Treatment began on January 14, 2019. 1 AA 28. In September of 2019, after nine months of treatment, Tariq was evaluated by Dr. Mohammad Khan, Dr. Shera Bradley and Dr. Patrick Bennett². 1 AA 27-43.

Dr. Mohammad Kahn reviewed the previous evaluations of Dr.'s Collins, Colosimo and Foerster. 1 AA 27. Dr. Khan reviewed Tariq's school records, the Stein Forensic Facility (Stein) records, collateral legal information and conducted a 50 minute interview with Tariq. 1 AA 27. Dr. Kahn found:

Mr. Manson does not suffer from any apparent mental illness. However, he has been diagnosed with learning disorders and appears to have intellectual limitations which are currently impairing his adjudicative competence. He has a simple and factual understanding of his charges and basic courtroom proceedings. However, his understanding of more complex processes such as plea bargaining is limited. His ability to rationally assist in his defense is also limited. He may ultimately improve in these areas with continued education and working with our outpatient restoration team and working with his attorney.

²Dr. Sharon Jones-Forrester, Ph.D., also evaluated Tariq at the request of Counsel on September 26, 2019. 1 AA 72. Dr. Jones-Forrester conducted a second evaluation April 23, 2020. 1 AA 72. Her report will be discussed below.

1 AA 30.

Likewise, Dr. Shera Bradley also found Tariq to be incompetent.³ 1 AA 31. Dr. Bradley reviewed police and court records, the previous evaluations, school records and records from Stein. She, along with Dr. Bennet and Dr. Damas, interviewed Tariq for thirty-five minutes. 1 AA 31-32.

Dr. Bradley noted that Tariq had difficulties retaining the information he had learned and difficulties understanding plea bargains and verdicts. 1 AA 35. This understanding of plea bargaining did not improve even though Tariq studied the materials at home, neither did he "demonstrate a rational understanding of his legal situation." 1 AA 35. Dr. Bradley noted that "[i]t was apparent he was not retaining additional information related to the plea bargaining process taught in the previous sessions. Although he retained some factual knowledge regarding his charges and the courtroom personnel, he did not demonstrate a rational understanding of the plea bargaining process." 1 AA 38. Dr. Bradley

³Dr. Bradley was also working with her Psychological Assistant, Sarah Damas, Psy.D. Dr. Damas did a subsequent evaluation on Tariq which will be discussed in more detail below.

expressed concern that, given his polite and acquiescent nature, Tariq may be hesitant to seek help from his attorney in understanding legal concepts. Dr. Bradley recommended that Counsel use simple terms in communicating with Tariq and frequently check for understanding. 1 AA 38.

Dr. Patrick Bennet also reviewed school records, previous evaluations, court and police records and did a thirty-five minute interview with Tariq. 1 AA 31, 39-40. Dr. Bennet also noted Tariq's continuing difficulties in comprehension of the plea bargaining process. 1 AA 41-42. Dr. Bennet disagreed with Mr. Pacult's suggestion that Tariq may never be restored to competency but indicated "... he is still unable to formulate any kind of defense strategy at this time, thus preventing him from being able to assist his attorney in his defense." 1 AA 43. The only further recommendation made by Dr. Bennet was that Tariq have "adequate and continued assistance" in order to restore competency. 1 AA 43.

The District Court then re-committed Tariq to continued treatment.

1 AA 44-46.

Tarig continued his treatment at Stein for another six months on a twice weekly basis. 1 AA 57. Tariq was consistent with treatment. 1 AA 57. On March 23, 2020, he was evaluated by Dr. Daniel Sussman, Dr. Eric Bossi and Dr. Sarah Damas who found Tarig to be competent. 1 AA 51-68. Dr. Damas, Dr. Bossi and Dr. Sussman all met with Tariq in a "panel". 1 AA 51. They spent one hour speaking with Tariq about what he had learned at Stein. 1 AA 51, 65. Dr. Damas was the only one of the three doctors who noted that Dr. Sussman was educating Tariq during the assessment regarding potential pleas of not guilty by reason of insanity and guilty but mentally ill⁴. 1 AA 56. When Tariq was unable to discuss the evidence against him and was unsure if the note he wrote apologizing for his alleged crimes could be used against him, he was again "educated on evidence". 1 AA 56. In addition, during the assessment, Tariq had to

⁴Dr. Daniel Sussman is also a licensed Nevada attorney. 1 AA 64. If Tariq requested information from him to aid his understanding, an attorney-client relationship may have existed. *See Todd v. State*, 113 Nev. 18, 24, 931 P.2d 721, 724-25 (1997) (An attorney-client relationship may be implied where a person seeks advice or assistance which pertains to matters within the attorney's professional competence and the attorney gives the desired advice or assistance). At the very least, Dr. Sussman's objectivity was destroyed when he engaged in educating Tariq then evaluated him regarding his legal knowledge based upon that "education".

be "educated on the definition of consensual." 1 AA 55. Dr. Damas also noted that Tariq had indicated his potential sentence as "one year to life in prison.⁵" 1 AA 55.

Despite these obvious deficiencies, Dr. Damas found Tariq competent. 1 AA 56-57. Further, Dr. Damas noted that Tariq would be hesitant in asking questions of his counsel when he failed to understand a concept. 1 AA 57. The only recommendations Dr. Damas made were that Tariq write down his questions and take notes during his meetings with his attorney and that his attorney explain terms simply and check for understanding. 1 AA 57. In making her finding, she relied on legal records, school records, prior evaluations, and the Stein competency restoration records. 1 AA 51-52.

Dr. Bossi completely failed to note that Dr. Sussman "educated" Tariq on concepts during the assessment. 1 AA 58, 60. Dr. Bossi noted that Tariq understood the range of possible penalties even though Tariq incorrectly stated the penalties as "one year to life". 1 AA 61, 62. Dr.

⁵The Sexual Assault charge carries a potential sentence of thirty-five years to life, NRS 200.366, while the Lewdness charges carry a potential sentence of ten years to life for each of the three counts. NRS 201.230.

Bossi found that Tariq had a "realistic appraisal of the defenses available to him, including the potential pleas of guilty, not guilty and no contest" and that Tariq "understands the concept of evidence" but failed to mention Tariq being "educated" on these and other issues during the evaluation. 1 AA 55, 56, 62.

Dr. Bossi relied solely upon the panel interview as well as all prior evaluations, the legal file and the competency restoration notes. 1 AA 57. The only recommendation Dr. Bossi made was that Tariq would "benefit from having discussions conducted using simple terms and concepts to aid his understanding." 1 AA 63.

Dr. Sussman also failed to mention that he participated in the "education" of Tariq during the interview. 1 AA 64-68. Dr. Sussman immediately noted, however, that Tariq should be monitored by clinical personnel in order to maintain the improvements he had made. 1 AA 64. Dr. Sussman noted that Tariq's Fund of Knowledge and Long Term Recall were both poor to fair, that Tariq had a poor knowledge regarding possible pleas and poor retention of possible pleas. 1 AA 67-68. Tariq's ability to appraise legal defenses was poor and there were concerns regarding his capacity to testify and challenge the State's witnesses, including the fact

that Tariq had yet to consider "exoneratory defenses". 1 AA 68. Dr. Sussman found that Tariq was competent to stand trial. 1 AA 67-68. The only indication Dr. Sussman gave to Tariq's obvious shortcomings was his suggestion that Tariq "could benefit from further brief procedural competency training." 1 AA 68.

Dr. Sussman made no recommendations for accommodation. 1 AA 64-68. He reviewed Tariq's medical chart at Stein, the legal case file and the evaluations conducted only by Doctors Colosimo, Collins and Foerster. 1 AA 65.

These evaluations were completed on or about March 23, 2020. 1 AA 51-68. On April 23, 2020, approximately one month later, Tariq was again evaluated by Dr. Sharon Jones-Forrester. 1 AA 72-88. Dr. Jones-Forrester's evaluation of Tariq consisted of two parts, the first of which was on September 26, 2019, and concluded with the second portion on April 23, 2020. 1 AA 72-88. She found that Tariq was incompetent under the *Dusky*⁶ standard, without the possibility of restoration. 1 AA 72-88.

Dr. Jones-Forrester reviewed Tariq's school records, police records,

⁶Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960).

Examination conducted in 2008 by Dr. Kalodner, a speech and language evaluation, and all previous psychological assessments, including the assessment by John Pacult, LCSW⁷. 1 AA 88. Dr. Jones-Forrester did a collateral interview with Tariq's mother and father. 1 AA 88. Dr. Jones-Forrester also completed a neuropsychological evaluation. 1 AA 72-88. She worked with Counsel on how to incorporate the recommended accommodations. 1 AA 134-35. She also spent approximately one and a half hours observing Tariq's interaction with his attorney subsequent to his competency restoration at Stein. 1 AA 72, 109.

In September of 2019, Dr. Jones-Forrester found that Tariq's intellectual and neurocognitive disabilities were undermining his ability to rationally understand the charges against him and the court proceedings, as well as his ability to aid and assist Counsel. 1 AA 73. Tariq had intellectual disabilities, poor comprehension skills, struggled with understanding complex legal information and, if he failed to

⁷Although the evaluations of Dr.'s Colosimo and Collins were not listed as having been reviewed on Dr. Jones-Forrester's report, this was an oversight. 1 AA 119. She did review these two evaluations. *Id*.

understand his attorney, he would ask his father for clarification—leading to more confusion. 1 AA 73. Tariq's disability was so severe that he would have trouble recognizing when he failed to understand something, which posed a "significant barrier" in his interactions with Counsel. 1 AA 73. He had little understanding of his charges, his potential sentences and the roles of those involved in the court process. 1 AA 73.

Specifically, he will tend to be very concrete, easily confused and will have marked difficulty understanding nuanced or complex information. He will tend to be gullible and easily manipulated, has extremely low processing, has poor expressive and receptive language skills and will significantly struggle with reasoning, problem-solving, and thinking through the consequences of his actions and responses. As such, he will be very vulnerable to misunderstanding information and may also readily agree to information that he has entirely misunderstood. Each of these difficulties will be more pronounced when he is stressed, rushed, anxious, in unfamiliar situations, or when information is presented to him in a rapid and complex manner.

1 AA 73.

Subsequent to Tariq's competency restoration treatment at Stein, Dr. Jones-Forrester again evaluated Tariq and his interactions with Counsel, on April 23, 2020. 1 AA 74. Tariq was again evaluated using the *Dusky* standard. 1 AA 74.

Tariq was unable to understand the meaning of the word consent in the context of sexual assault with a child under fourteen. 1 AA 74. While he could concretely state that "you shouldn't have sex with someone under 14", he also explained that consent was "forcing somebody". Tariq was completely unaware of the concept of a fourteen year old's capacity to consent versus "forcing somebody" to have sex. "[N]or could he understand how consent could not be given legally regardless of the nature of the relationship he had with his alleged victim." 1 AA 74. With regard to the charges, these concepts were clearly and simply explained by his Counsel, however, Tariq continued to have persistent difficulties and evinced a lack of factual and rational understanding. 1 AA 74.

As to Tariq's understanding of the roles of members of the legal community, this had not changed from when she first evaluated him. 1 AA 74. When discussing courtroom decorum, Tariq understood the importance of being quiet but ". . . continued to be unable to appreciate any potential risks related to failing to understand information or appropriately alert his attorney of inaccuracies during court proceedings". 1 AA 74.

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